OCTOBER 7, **2015**

SMALL BUSINESS ADVISORY REVIEW PANEL FOR POTENTIAL RULEMAKING ON ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS

OUTLINE OF PROPOSALS UNDER CONSIDERATION AND ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

CONTENTS

I.		Introduction		
II.		Background		
A.		The Bureau's Study of Arbitration Agreements		
B.		Regulatory Authority13		
III.		The SBREFA Process		
IV.		Proposals Under Consideration to Limit the Use of Pre-Dispute Arbitration Agreements 13		
A.		Proposals to prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements in class litigation 14		
	1.	. Why is the Bureau considering proposals to prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements in class litigation?12		
	2.	Requirement that pre-dispute arbitration agreements provide they are inapplicable to class litigation		
	3	Alternatives considered1		
В.		Proposals to impose conditions on the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements by requiring submission of arbitral claims and awards		
	1.	. Why is the Bureau considering proposals to condition the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements by requiring submission of arbitral claims and awards?19		
	2	e. Requirement to submit arbitral claims and awards to the Bureau20		
	3	Alternatives considered2		
C.		Effective Date and Coverage		
	1.	. Effective Date2:		
	2	c. Coverage2		
V.		Potential Impacts on Small Entities 2		
A.		Overview2;		
В.		Administrative cost of including new language in future contracts between covered persons and consumers		
C.		Legal cost due to possible additional class litigation exposure2		
D.		Possible cost due to managing any perceived risk of increased exposure to class		

E. Cost of	credit to small entities	3
Appendix A: Leg	gal Authority	33
Appendix B: Glo	ssary	34

I. Introduction

As part of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's efforts to make consumer finance markets work for consumers, and in accordance with specific authority from Congress, the Bureau is examining the role of arbitration agreements in the resolution of consumers' disputes with providers of consumer financial products and services. Consumers and providers (*i.e.* the parties) may agree to arbitrate in two ways: they may agree to arbitrate a dispute after it has arisen or they may agree to arbitrate through contracts or clauses in contracts that require the parties to submit any future disputes between them to an arbitrator, rather than to a court.¹ The former are sometimes called "post-dispute arbitration agreements" and the latter are sometimes called "mandatory pre-dispute arbitration agreements" because they commit the parties to arbitration before there is a dispute between them. The proposals under consideration concern mandatory pre-dispute arbitration agreements only, which are typically referred to in this outline more simply as "arbitration agreements." Arbitration agreements were originally used primarily in contracts between businesses, but in recent decades have become increasingly common in consumers' contracts with businesses for everyday consumer products, including financial products and services.

Congress directed the Bureau to study arbitration agreements in consumer financial contracts and authorized the Bureau to regulate their use if the Bureau finds that certain conditions are met. In March 2015, the Bureau completed its comprehensive three-year study of arbitration agreements and other methods for dispute resolution in markets for consumer financial products and services (the Study).² Among other things, the Study found that contracts for consumer financial products and services frequently contain arbitration agreements mandating that future disputes between the parties be resolved in arbitration instead of in court, if either party so chooses. The Study also found that most of these arbitration agreements contain provisions stating that arbitration may not proceed on a class basis. Together, these provisions can effectively preclude all class proceedings, in court or in arbitration. The Study further found that few consumers bring formal individual disputes against their financial service providers, either in court or arbitration.³

The Bureau does not believe, based on available data, that the reason consumers take relatively few individual complaints to court or arbitration is that consumers do not have disputes with their consumer financial service providers. Instead, the relative dearth of individual court or arbitration filings may be explained by the fact that, where consumers know they are harmed, their individual injury may be too small to make it worth their time and effort to pursue a remedy for the harm, especially through a formal filing in court or arbitration. These small injuries may also make it more difficult for consumers to find an attorney to handle their cases. In addition, the Bureau believes, based on available data, that in some cases consumers may not know that they have suffered harm because some harms are not apparent to people who are not

-

¹ In practice, under the latter type of arbitration agreement, a party sued in court may ask the court dismiss or stay the lawsuit so that the dispute can instead be decided by an arbitrator.

² Bureau of Cons. Fin Prot. *Arbitration Study: Report to Congress, pursuant to Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act § 1028(a)* (Mar. 2015) ("Study"), *available at* http://www.consumerfinance.gov/reports/arbitration-study-report-to-congress-2015/.

³ However, financial services providers filed hundreds of thousands of individual arbitration proceedings against consumers in periods before those covered by the Study.

experts in the law or because the harms are caused by practices that are not detectable by individuals.

Given that few consumer harms appear to be resolved through the filing of formal individual disputes against their financial services providers, the Bureau believes that it is important that the other methods that exist to remedy consumer harms remain available. While the Bureau and other government enforcement agencies can remedy some of these harms through public enforcement actions and supervisory oversight, these agencies have limited resources. Therefore, the Bureau believes that consumers are better protected and the market is fairer for those companies that comply with the law when consumers also are able to obtain relief by grouping their own disputes against providers of consumer financial products or services in private proceedings, including litigation. Indeed, the Study shows that these aggregated actions - typically class action litigation - have provided significant benefits to consumers, through cash settlements and other benefits made available to them and from agreements by companies to stop harmful behavior. Class litigation may also benefit consumers through the deterrent impact of those settlement agreements on other companies' conduct.

For these and other reasons, the Bureau is concerned that arbitration agreements effectively prohibit class proceedings, including litigation, and that they prevent many consumers from obtaining remedies when they are harmed by their providers of consumer financial products or services. The Bureau is further concerned that the contractual prohibitions on class proceedings reduce the deterrent effect of such proceedings and deprive consumers of positive changes companies may make to avoid liability or to remediate harm. They also may facilitate the adoption by companies of business practices that could harm consumers by reducing the risks associated with unlawful behavior.

In accordance with its authority under section 1028(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-Frank Act), the Bureau has preliminary determined that a regulation that would prohibit the application of pre-dispute arbitration agreements to class litigation in court would protect consumers, serve the public interest, and be consistent with the Study. This proposal would not prevent consumers and providers of covered consumer financial products and services from agreeing to arbitrate disputes on a class basis, as long as class litigation remains an option. The Bureau believes that consumers and the broader consumer finance market will benefit by allowing consumers to pursue relief for violations of law through class proceedings against providers of covered consumer financial products or services without the impediment of arbitration agreements. Through such proceedings, the Bureau expects that consumers will receive monetary relief when companies violate the law and that companies will change their practices to comply with the law, which will benefit consumers.

The Bureau is not proposing for consideration a ban on all pre-dispute arbitration agreements or other conditions or limitations on the use of such agreements at this time. The Bureau's present assessment based on the evidence obtained thus far is inconclusive as to arbitration of individual consumer financial disputes. The Bureau is concerned, however, that pre-dispute arbitration agreements that require arbitration of individual claims may have in the recent past led to harms to many consumers and is further concerned that these types of harms may recur. Specifically, in the early 2000s, companies filed hundreds of thousands of arbitrations seeking to collect debts from consumers before a single arbitration administrator that was alleged by Minnesota's attorney general to have institutional conflicts of interest.⁴ Cognizant of this recent

4 Without admitting to the allegations, this administrator agreed to permanently cease administering consumer arbitrations pursuant to a consent decree resolving litigation against it. See Consent Decree entered in Minnesota v. Nat'l Arb. Forum, Inc., et al., No. 27-CV-09-18550 (July 17, 2009).

history, the Bureau wants to prevent harm to consumers in individual consumer arbitrations.

To better understand arbitrations that occur now and in the future, the Bureau is therefore considering proposals that would facilitate ongoing Bureau as well as public monitoring of consumer financial arbitrations. Specifically, the Bureau is considering a proposal that would require companies that use arbitration agreements with consumers for certain types of consumer financial products or services to submit claims filed and awards issued in any arbitration proceedings to the Bureau. The Bureau is further considering periodically publishing the claims or awards on its website.

To begin the rulemaking process, the Bureau along with the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy (SBA) will convene a Small Business Review Panel (Panel) to consider the potential impact of the proposals the Bureau is considering on small businesses. Following completion of the Panel process, consideration of the Panel's recommendations, and other stakeholder outreach, the Bureau expects to commence a rulemaking.

II. Background

Companies often provide consumer financial products and services under the terms of a standard-form, written contract. In addition to being governed by such contracts, the relationship between a consumer and a financial service provider is generally governed by consumer protection laws at the state level, federal level, or both. These laws create legal rights for consumers and impose responsibilities on covered providers of financial products and services. Some of these laws can be enforced directly by consumers by bringing private lawsuits against the financial service provider, while others are subject to enforcement only by government actors.

Absent an agreement to the contrary, if a dispute arises between a consumer and a company as to whether one party or the other has violated the contract or a privately enforceable law, the party who believes that a violation has occurred has the right to seek resolution of the dispute in a court of law, either by filing an individual lawsuit or by filing or participating in a class lawsuit. A class lawsuit is one in which, in defined circumstances, one or more plaintiffs may file suit on behalf of similarly situated individuals. If the class is certified by the court, members of a class — for example, customers of a company who have been affected by a particular practice — may be eligible to obtain relief without initiating their own lawsuits. Conversely, if the defendant prevails in a class case after the class is certified, members of the class may be bound by the decision and thereby precluded from initiating their own lawsuits with respect to the issues in the class case. Filings and decisions in both class cases and individual cases filed in court are generally a matter of public record.

The parties to a contract can also agree to alternative means of resolving disputes that arise between them. A common form of alternative dispute resolution provided for in contracts is final and binding arbitration in which one or more privately-chosen arbitrators are empowered to resolve the dispute. These arbitration agreements generally give each party to the contract two distinct rights. First, either side can file disputes against the other in arbitration and obtain a decision from the arbitrator. The arbitrator's decisions are generally not appealable in court, meaning a party who disagrees with a decision has very limited options to have that decision reconsidered or reversed, and that party cannot ignore the arbitrator's decision and pursue the dispute again in court. Second, if one side sues the other in court, the party that has been sued

in court can use the arbitration agreement to require that the dispute proceed, if at all, in arbitration instead.⁵

Arbitration agreements were originally used primarily between companies that bargained with each other to create tailored contracts. Early on, courts were often hostile to such arrangements, and Congress in 1925 passed the Federal Arbitration Act to require that, subject to a few exceptions, courts enforce arbitration agreements.⁶ Arbitration agreements are now often used in standard-form contracts where both parties do not have equal bargaining power, such as in contracts between companies and their employees, investors, or consumers. These agreements have spread rapidly in the last few decades, and their use has become a contentious legal and policy issue. Courts have focused on various issues raised by the use of arbitration agreements and the application of laws governing contracts and the Federal Arbitration Act in such standard-form contracts. One issue is whether arbitration agreements that ban class proceedings in arbitration should be enforced given that they effectively allow companies to shield themselves from all class proceedings. They do so because companies sued in a class case in court can use an arbitration agreement to seek dismissal of the court case in favor of an arbitration in which no class proceedings are permitted. Before 2011, lower courts were divided on whether arbitration agreements that bar class proceedings were unenforceable because they violated some states' laws. In 2011, in AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 7 the Supreme Court resolved this divide by holding that the Federal Arbitration Act preempted California state law that would have prohibited the enforcement of an arbitration agreement barring class proceedings in a consumer case.

As is mentioned above, arbitration agreements in consumer contracts have been the subject of legislation and regulation. For example, since 1976, commodities merchants have been permitted to use arbitration agreements only when customers voluntarily agree to arbitrate disputes before they arise. These merchants must offer their products to consumers even when a customer does not agree to pre-dispute arbitration. As another example, arbitration agreements that apply to class litigation have been prohibited in securities broker dealer contracts since 1992. The Military Lending Act and its implementing regulations, which were recently expanded by the Department of Defense to reach most forms of credit accessed by servicemembers and their families, prohibit arbitration agreements in consumer credit contracts with certain covered servicemembers or their dependents. In addition to providing the Bureau the authority to regulate the use of arbitration agreements in consumer financial contracts, the Dodd-Frank Act prohibited all arbitration agreements in consumer mortgages and included authority for the Securities and Exchange Commission to regulate arbitration agreements in contracts between consumers and securities broker-dealers or investment advisers.

⁵ These arbitration agreements typically do not apply to lawsuits in small claims court, however, where disputes under a specified dollar amount often can be resolved quickly and without an attorney.

⁶ 9 U.S.C. 1 through 16.

^{7 131} S. Ct. 1740 (2011).

^{8 17} CFR 166.5(b)-(c), implementing 7 U.S.C. 21(b)(10)(A).

⁹ Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) Rule 2268(f).

¹⁰ 10 U.S.C. 987, as implemented by 32 CFR 232.8(c).

¹¹ Dodd-Frank Act section 1414(a). That prohibition was implemented in Regulation Z by the Bureau's Loan Originator Compensation Rule. 12 CFR 1026.36(h).

¹² Dodd-Frank Act section 921.

Department of Health and Human Services also recently proposed regulations that would regulate the use of arbitration agreements in long-term care contracts with consumers. Finally, the Federal Trade Commission also interprets federal law as prohibiting arbitration agreements in warranties for consumer products. 4

A. The Bureau's Study of Arbitration Agreements

The Dodd-Frank Act required the Bureau to study the use of arbitration agreements in connection with consumer financial products or services. ¹⁵ As a preliminary step toward such a study, the Bureau published a Request for Information in 2012 that sought comments on the appropriate scope, methods, and data sources that the Bureau should consider in its study of arbitration agreements. ¹⁶ The Bureau received 60 comments in response to the request and met with numerous commenters and other stakeholders to discuss their concerns as it considered how to construct its study. The Bureau released Preliminary Results of its study on December 12, 2013. ¹⁷ Following the public release of the Preliminary Results, the Bureau again met with numerous stakeholders to seek additional feedback before the Bureau prepared the final Study. After completing additional work and analysis, the Bureau released the Study on March 10, 2015. Among other things, the Study used a detailed analysis of empirical evidence, including consumer contracts and court data, to describe how individual and aggregated disputes between consumers and consumer finance companies have been resolved both in arbitration and in the courts.

The Bureau believes that its Study is the most comprehensive empirical study of consumer financial arbitration ever conducted. Specifically, the Study analyzed over 850 consumer finance agreements between companies and consumers, over 1,800 consumer finance arbitration disputes filed over a period of three years, a sample of the nearly 3,500 individual consumer finance cases filed in federal court over the same time frame, all of the 562 consumer finance class cases filed in federal court and in selected state courts during the same time period, 40,000 small claims filings over the course of a single year, more than 400 consumer financial class settlements in federal courts over a period of five years, and more than 1,100 state and federal public enforcement actions relating to consumer finance. The Study further included a

¹³ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Medicare and Medicaid Programs; Reform of Requirements for Long-Term Care Facilities; Proposed Rule (July 16, 2015), 80 FR 42168, 42264 (proposing to require that arbitration agreements be explained in understandable language, acknowledged by the resident, provide for a convenient venue and a neutral arbiter, entered into on a voluntary basis, not be made a condition of admission, and not restrict or discourage communication with government authorities).

^{14 16} CFR 703.5(j); FTC Final Revised Interpretations, 80 FR 42710, 42718-20 (Jul. 20, 2015).

¹⁵ Dodd-Frank Act section 1028(a) ("The Bureau shall conduct a study of, and shall provide a report to Congress concerning, the use of agreements providing for arbitration of any future dispute between covered persons and consumers in connection with the offering or providing of consumer financial products or services.").

¹⁶ Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Request for Information Regarding Scope, Methods, and Data Sources for Conducting Study of Pre-Dispute Arbitration Agreements 4 (Apr. 27, 2012) (Docket No. CFPB-2012-0017). The Bureau subsequently received and considered additional feedback from interested persons in connection with its survey of credit card customers. Agency Information Collection Activities; Comment Request (Jun. 7, 2013) (Docket No. CFPB-2013-0016).

¹⁷ Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, *Arbitration Study Preliminary Results* (Dec. 12, 2013) ("Preliminary Results"), *available at* http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312 cfpb arbitration-study-preliminary-results.pdf.

national survey of over 1,000 credit card consumers to learn more about their knowledge and understanding of arbitration and other dispute resolution mechanisms.

The Study made a number of important findings, including that tens of millions of consumers use consumer financial products that are subject to arbitration agreements. For example, the share of contracts that include arbitration agreements is 53% of the credit card market, 44% of insured deposits in the checking account market, 92% for a sample of prepaid card agreements obtained by the Bureau, 99% for a sample of storefront payday loan agreements from California and Texas agreements, and 99% of the mobile wireless market. The Study also found that in the credit card, checking account, and payday loan markets, arbitration agreements are more prevalent in contracts involving larger providers of financial services than smaller providers. In the credit card market, 75% of the largest issuers used arbitration agreements, while 42% of the smaller and mid-sized bank issuers did so. In the checking account market, 46% of the largest banks used arbitration agreements, as compared to 7% of the small and mid-sized banks studied. In the payday market, all of the 11 large lenders studied had arbitration agreements, as compared to 84% of a sample of smaller lenders.

Section 2 of the Study also provided data on the use of arbitration agreements by entities of different sizes. Entities generally qualify as "small" under SBA standards if their assets, revenues, or employee count fall below thresholds established by SBA, which are assigned by industry classifications in the Census.²¹ The table below summarizes the data on the use of arbitration agreements from the Study for selected markets, and breaks out this data further to identify prevalence of these agreements for small entities for which data on size is generally publicly available (banks and credit unions) in certain markets (checking/debit cards, credit cards, private student loans, and prepaid GPR cards):

Market/product	Prevalence of Arbitration Clause Data for Small Entities and Observations
Checking/debit cards	Of a random sample of banks not among the largest 100, 7% used arbitration agreements for their accounts (section 2.3.2). Over half of the banks in this 7% appear small.
Credit cards	24 credit card agreements reported to the Bureau by banks not among the largest 50 issuers had arbitration agreements (section 2.3.1). Eight of these 24 banks that appear to be small.
Prepaid GPR cards	Among the banks issuing the 52 prepaid GPR card agreements sampled (section 2.3.3), we found that only one bank was small, and that card agreement included an

¹⁸ Study, *supra* note 2, section 1.4.1.

¹⁹ But for a settlement of an antitrust lawsuit involving four large credit card issuers, the market share of credit card consumers whose contracts would include arbitration agreement would have been 94%. Study, *supra* note 2, section 2.3.1.

²⁰ The Study did not delineate small providers in the three other markets studied.

²¹ See U.S. Small Business Administration, "Table of Small Business Size Standards Matched to North American Industry Classification System Codes," available at https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/files/Size Standards Table.pdf.

	arbitration agreement. Outside of that sample, we have also found 4 other small banks whose prepaid GPR cards were reviewed in the Bureau's 2014 Study of Prepaid Account Agreements; it appears that 3 of these banks include arbitration agreements in their prepaid GPR cards. ²²
Private student loans	A widely offered student loan product (section 2.3.5) includes an arbitration agreement and appears to be used by over 150 small credit unions. ²³

With respect to the market for short-term smaller-dollar loans, the Bureau notes that size standards for this market are generally tied to firm revenue. However, nonbank firms are a significant portion of this market, and information concerning their revenues does not appear to be consistently available. Nonetheless, the Bureau notes that 84% of storefront payday lenders (not among the 11 largest participants) in a sample of such lenders in California and Texas used arbitration agreements (section 2.3.4).

As noted, arbitration agreements provide that, at the election of either party, claims must be decided in arbitration rather than in court. The Study showed that less than 2% of consumers surveyed said that they would seek out a lawyer in response to a dispute with their credit card company and less than 1% said that they would initiate legal proceedings without mention of an attorney.

Consistent with the findings in the survey, consumers in fact initiated a relatively small number of individual cases against their financial service providers either in arbitration or in court. Between 2010 and 2012, across six different consumer finance markets, 1,847 arbitration disputes were filed with the American Arbitration Association (AAA), the largest administrator of arbitration agreements within the consumer finance field. An unknown number of these cases were filed by companies, rather than consumers. Most of the claims filed in arbitration were for large dollar amounts. Only about 25 arbitration disputes per year involved affirmative

²² The Bureau's study of prepaid account agreements is available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201411 cfpb study-of-prepaid-account-agreements.pdf. In addition to the account agreements reviewed in the arbitration study and in the prepaid account agreement study, the Bureau also has identified an additional small bank issuer whose GPR prepaid card includes an arbitration agreement. Finally, other entities, such as nonbank program managers, participate in delivering prepaid GPR card services to consumers. It may be likely that some program managers for cards in the sample were small. See CFPB, Prepaid Accounts under the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (Regulation E) and the Truth in Lending Act (Regulation Z); Proposed Rule (Dec. 23, 2014), 79 FR 77102, 77283-77285 (Bureau's 2014 proposal to regulate prepaid accounts finding over 100 entities that are small or potentially small participating in the prepaid account market). Nonetheless, data concerning the revenues of such program managers does not appear to be consistently publicly available.

²³ Credit unions offering this product are listed at http://www.studentchoice.org/. Credit unions and banks across the country, including a number of small entities, also partner with Sallie Mae to originate private student loans with arbitration agreements (the Smart Option Student Loan).

consumer claims for \$1,000 or less.²⁴ The average and median affirmative consumer claim amounts were \$27,000 and \$11,500, respectively.

The Study similarly found that few consumers file individual cases in federal court. Across five markets, between 2010 and 2012, the Study found an average of just over 1,150 individual consumer financial cases per year filed in federal court.²⁵ When looking at cases filed against credit card issuers in small claims court, the numbers were similarly low. In 2012, consumers in jurisdictions with a combined total population of around 85 million filed fewer than 870 small claims court credit card claims against issuers representing 80% of credit card loans outstanding. These low numbers of formal claims may be due to the fact that consumers are able to resolve harms with their consumer financial service providers informally through contacting the company's customer service representatives. The Study showed, however, that at least for disputes concerning banks' checking account overdraft policies, informal dispute resolution provided relief to few consumers who were harmed.²⁶

In contrast to the relatively few individually-filed claims, the Study found evidence that class litigation provides a potential means of securing relief for a much larger number of consumers. Across substantially all consumer finance markets, the Study showed that at least 32 million class members per year were eligible for relief pursuant to class settlements approved by federal courts between 2008 and 2012. The settlements totaled \$540 million per year in cash, in-kind relief, and attorneys' fees and expenses, with roughly 18% of that going to expenses and attorneys' fees. Further, these figures do not include the value to consumers of class settlements requiring companies to change their behavior, although this value is potentially substantial since the Bureau did not quantify it.

The Study further provided evidence that arbitration agreements provide a substantial barrier to pursuing claims on an aggregated (i.e. class) basis. Almost all of the arbitration agreements studied prohibit arbitration from proceeding on a classwide basis. Indeed, the Study found only two class arbitration cases filed with the AAA in six markets studied over a period of three years.

Further, arbitration agreements are more likely to be used to stop cases filed on behalf of a class than in cases filed on an individual basis. Among the 1,205 individual federal court cases studied, companies moved to compel arbitration in only 12 cases or less than 1%. In contrast, out of 562 class cases filed over three years in federal court and selected state courts, the Study found that arbitration agreements were cited as the basis for a motion to dismiss or stay the case in 94 cases (about 17% of the class cases) and courts dismissed or stayed about half of those cases.²⁷ Outside of those 562 cases analyzed, the Study further identified more than 60 other class consumer finance cases dismissed or stayed on the basis of arbitration agreements since 2011, for a total of over 100 class cases identified in the Study as blocked by arbitration agreements. For most of the cases analyzed in the Study, information was not available as to whether the relevant contracts contained arbitration agreements. In the 40 class cases where

²⁴ See the Study for an explanation of "affirmative" consumer claims. Study, *supra* note 2, section 5.2.1. In general, the Study treated claims under federal or state statute as an affirmative consumer claim, as distinguished from a claim involving disputed debt.

²⁵ Other than the small claims filing discussed in this paragraph, the Study did not review other individual cases filed in state court.

²⁶ Study, *supra* note 2, section 8.3.8.

²⁷ In the other half, the court either did not rule on the motion relying on the arbitration agreement or denied it. Study, supra note 2, section 6.7.1.

the Study was able to ascertain that the case was subject to an arbitration agreement (in a subset of cases involving credit card issuers), motions to compel arbitration were filed 65% of the time.

Government actors, including the Bureau, are also able to file lawsuits to remedy aggregate harms to consumers. The Study showed, however, that private class lawsuits pursued claims that government actors typically did not. In reviewing 114 identified private consumer finance settlements in class cases, the Study was unable to identify an overlapping public enforcement proceeding in 66% of these 114 filings. With regard to the relationship between state and federal enforcement actions and private class litigation, the Study identified 740 enforcement actions filed between 2008 and 2012 by regulators in 20 states and four municipalities and counties, and another 410 cases that were filed by federal regulators. In 88% of these, the Study did not find an overlapping private class complaint. The Study also did not find that arbitration agreements led to lower prices for consumers, at least in the credit card market, subject to limitations noted in the Study.²⁸ The Study did not find a statistically significant difference in the differences in total cost of credit to consumers between four large credit card issuers that agreed to remove arbitration agreements from their consumer financial contracts as a requirement in the settlement of an antitrust lawsuit and issuers that did not agree to do so.

With respect to the few individual arbitrations that were filed with AAA, the Study found differences as compared to individual court cases with regard to filing fees, attorney representation rates, and time to completion. Filing fees for arbitrations were slightly lower than in court. In the time range covered by the Study, AAA charged \$125 to file a claim under \$10,000 and \$375 to file a claim up to \$75,000 compared to \$400 to file any claim in federal court.²⁹ The Study also found that nearly 37% of consumers proceeded without attorney representation in the arbitration cases studied, compared to about 6% of cases filed on an individual basis in federal court.³⁰

With respect to the time it takes for a consumer to resolve a dispute in arbitration as compared to court, the Study found that arbitration cases were resolved in a median of 150 days (although cases may have proceeded in court before being sent to arbitration) as compared to a median of 127 days for individual cases filed in federal court.³¹

As to outcomes in individual arbitration, the Study found that less than one third of the claims filed were resolved by arbitrators; the majority of cases ended in what may have been a settlement between the parties, rather than an arbitrator's decision.³² In litigation, over half of the individual cases filed in federal court ended in a known settlement and another 40% resulted in what may have been a settlement.³³ Of the cases resolved by arbitrators, consumers prevailed in about 20% of affirmative claims they asserted, whereas companies prevailed in about 93% of

²⁸ Study, *supra* note 2, section 10.

²⁹ AAA now charges a \$200 flat fee for filing all claims.

³⁰ The Study further showed that companies were represented by counsel in the majority of arbitration disputes. Study, *supra* note 2, section 5.5.3.

³¹ The time to resolve class cases filed in court was longer than for either individual arbitration disputes or court cases, likely because class cases are more complex than individual cases. For class cases filed in federal court, the time to close was a median of just over 200 days. For class cases filed in selected state court, the time to closure was a median of 255 days for one of the years studied and 407 for the other year studied.

³² Study, *supra* note 2, section 5.6.6.

³³ Study, supra note 2, section.2.2.

affirmative claims they asserted.³⁴ In federal individual litigation, consumers won a judgment against a company in 6.8% of all of the cases studied (none of the individual cases were filed by companies against consumers).³⁵ The Study was careful to point out, however, that these differences in outcomes could be attributable to "selection bias," the differences in the types of claims submitted for arbitral decision by consumers and companies.

Since the Study was released, the Bureau has invited feedback from and engaged with key stakeholders including through roundtable discussions with both industry and consumer groups. The Bureau continues to be receptive to input and anticipates that the SBREFA and rulemaking processes will provide further opportunities for comment from interested stakeholders.

B. Regulatory Authority

The Dodd-Frank Act gives the Bureau the authority to issue regulations that would "prohibit or impose conditions or limitations on the use of an agreement between a covered person and a consumer for a consumer financial product or service providing for arbitration of any future dispute between the parties," if doing so is "in the public interest and for the protection of consumers." Section 1028(b) also requires that "[t]he findings in such rule shall be consistent with the Study."

The Bureau believes that the proposals under consideration are consistent with the Study and meet the standards for exercise of the Bureau's rulemaking authority under section 1028(b). The Bureau seeks input regarding all aspects of the proposals, including whether they are the most effective means of furthering consumer and public interests in light of the Study and other evidence regarding use of arbitration agreements in connection with contracts for consumer financial products and services.

The Bureau anticipates that the impact of the proposals under consideration, if adopted, would vary in type and magnitude for the different types of entities covered by the proposals. The differential impact of the proposals under consideration likely would result from, among other things, variation in existing practices with regard to consumer financial contracts generally and the use of arbitration agreements specifically, as well as varying levels of exposure to consumer financial litigation and arbitration.

III. The SBREFA Process

Pursuant to the consultation process prescribed in the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act (SBREFA),³⁶ the Bureau is seeking input about the rulemaking proposals it is considering. The SBREFA consultation process provides a mechanism for the Bureau to obtain input directly from small financial services providers early in the rulemaking process about new regulatory requirements it is contemplating. SBREFA directs the Bureau to convene a Panel when it is considering a proposed rule that could have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. The Panel includes representatives from the Bureau, SBA,

35 Study, supra note 33.

³⁴ Study, supra note 32.

³⁶ 5 U.S.C. 609(b), available at https://www.sba.gov/advocacy/regulatory-flexibility-act.

and OMB. SBREFA requires the Panel to meet with a selected group of individuals who are representative of small entities that are likely to be subject to the rules that the Bureau may issue. The industries that would be covered by the proposal the Bureau is considering will be discussed in part IV.C.

During the Panel outreach meeting, small entity representatives (SERs) will provide the Panel with important feedback on the potential economic impacts of complying with proposed regulations. They may also provide feedback on regulatory options under consideration and regulatory alternatives to minimize these impacts. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act directs the Bureau to collect the advice and recommendations of the SERs concerning whether the proposals under consideration might increase the cost of credit for small businesses and not-for-profits and concerning alternatives to minimize any such increase.³⁷

Within 60 days of convening, the Panel is required to complete a report on the input received from the SERs during the Panel process. The Bureau will consider the SERs' feedback and the Panel's report as it prepares the proposed rule. Once the proposed rule is published, the Panel's final report will be placed in the public rulemaking record. The Bureau welcomes further feedback from the SERs during the public comment period on the proposed rule.

The Bureau is convening a Panel to obtain input from the selected SERs on proposals under consideration for arbitration agreements. The Bureau has prepared this Outline for the SERs in order to provide the necessary background and facilitate the Panel process. The Bureau also recommends that SERs review the Study. However, the Panel process is only one step in the full rulemaking process. No providers of consumer financial products or services will be required to comply with new regulatory requirements before a proposed rule is published, public comment is received and reviewed by the Bureau, a final rule is issued, and 180 days passes from the effective date of the regulation, as required by Dodd-Frank Act section 1028(d). One of the specific questions on which the Bureau will seek input during the SBREFA process is how long small entities would need to implement the proposals under consideration.

The Bureau is also conferring with other federal agencies, as well as tribal and possibly other governments, and is seeking feedback from a wide range of other stakeholders on the proposals under consideration.

IV. Proposals Under Consideration to Limit the Use of Pre-Dispute Arbitration Agreements

As reflected in the Study, while consumers do not typically take individual disputes concerning their agreements for consumer financial products or services to arbitration or to court, the Bureau is concerned that arbitration agreements limit aggregate relief to consumers, principally by preventing consumers from filing and participating in consumer finance class proceedings. As to the few consumer financial arbitrations that do occur, the Bureau is concerned that there is a potential for significant consumer harm if arbitration agreements were to be administered in biased or unfair ways.

The proposals below cover: (1) prohibiting the application of arbitration agreements as to class cases in court; and (2) requiring submission to the Bureau of arbitral disputes (*i.e.*, claims in

-

^{37 5} U.S.C. 603(d).

arbitration) and awards and potentially also publication of those disputes and awards on the Bureau's website. Both of these proposals would apply to pre-dispute arbitration agreements "between a covered person and a consumer for a consumer financial product or service" as identified in part IV.C, subject to certain limited exceptions described in more detail at part IV.C.³⁸ The Bureau is not considering at this time a proposal that would prohibit entirely the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements. The proposals being considered would not affect the ability of consumers and companies to agree to arbitrate disputes after they arise. The Bureau seeks feedback on all aspects of the proposals under consideration.

A. Proposals to prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements in class litigation

1. Why is the Bureau considering proposals to prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements in class litigation?

As noted above, the Study shows that individual consumers rarely file disputes against their consumer financial service providers, either in court or in arbitration. Survey results reported in the Study similarly show that only around 2% of consumers surveyed would consult an attorney or pursue an individual lawsuit as a means of resolving a small-dollar dispute.³⁹ While the Study does not address the question of *why* consumers do not file individual disputes in either forum, it may be because the amounts at stake are too small to make it rational for either the consumer or attorneys who may represent the consumer to pursue on an individual basis.⁴⁰ It may also be the case that individual, unrepresented consumers are unable to detect that their financial services provider has acted in a manner that may give rise to a legal claim.⁴¹

The Bureau recognizes that informal dispute resolution systems exist at companies to address some individual disputes about which consumers are aware.⁴² However, companies' informal systems are voluntary and are primarily designed to benefit those consumers who pursue them. Many more consumers may be harmed by the same wrongful practice without realizing it or without filing their own disputes. An obvious drawback of such an approach for consumer protection is that companies can choose not to resolve disputes raised by customers who complain or can resolve disputes with those customers while maintaining practices that violate

³⁸ Covered financial products and services are defined in Dodd-Frank Act section 1002(15)(A), subject to limitations and exceptions set forth in sections 1002(15)(B)-(C), 1027, and 1029 of the Act.

³⁹ Study, *supra* note 2, section 3.4.2.

⁴⁰ See, e.g., Carnegie v. Household Int'l, Inc., 376 F.3d 656, 661 (7th Cir. 2004) ("The realistic alternative to a class action is not 17 million individual suits, but zero individual suits, as only a lunatic or a fanatic sues for \$30.") (Emphasis in original.)

⁴¹ For example, most consumers lack expertise to identify violations of antitrust law or to detect systemic widespread discrimination that might violate federal or state law.

⁴² Consumers can also opt to submit a complaint to the Bureau about certain consumer financial goods and services. Complaints benefit the public and the financial marketplace by informing the Bureau's work; however, the Bureau's informal complaint system is not a substitute for consumers' rights to bring formal disputes. Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, *Submit a Complaint*, at http://www.consumerfinance.gov/complaint/.

the law or harm consumers who never complain. Indeed, the Study showed that at least for the class case settlements concerning banks' checking account overdraft policies, informal dispute resolution did not provide relief to many consumers harmed by the overdraft policies.

Given the relatively few disputes filed by individual consumers and the inherent limits of informal dispute resolution, the Bureau believes that existing avenues of aggregate legal relief should be available to consumers who may be harmed by their consumer financial service providers. The Bureau believes that the availability of such avenues for consumers not only facilitates relief in specific cases, but also strengthens incentives for consumer financial service providers to engage in robust compliance and customer service on an ongoing basis. While the Bureau and other government actors can and do file lawsuits against companies that cause harm to large numbers of consumers, government resources to pursue such lawsuits are limited.

A common form of aggregate relief for consumers is private class litigation. Class litigation procedures were developed in part because "the amounts at stake for individuals may be so small that separate suits would be impracticable."⁴³ Indeed,

[t]he policy at the very core of the class action mechanism is to overcome the problem that small recoveries do not provide the incentive for any individual to bring a solo action prosecuting his or her own rights. A class action solves this problem by aggregating the relatively paltry potential recoveries into something worth someone's (usually an attorney's) labor.⁴⁴

For this reason, class cases are particularly relevant in consumer financial markets where it is less likely for any individual consumer to incur large losses as a result of a particular common practice even though, in aggregate, losses may be substantial.⁴⁵ Indeed, a number of the federal consumer financial protection laws administered and enforced by the Bureau explicitly acknowledge the relevance of private enforcement under class litigation by including these remedies in their statutory scheme.⁴⁶ Most class cases also provide finality to companies because settlements or judgments that occur in class cases bind consumers who have not opted out. This, in turn, can, for example, reduce the likelihood of a public enforcement action or the magnitude of relief paid in any such actions that are brought.

Class cases can provide significant relief to consumers who have been harmed by their consumer financial service providers. Conservatively, the Study found settlements in class cases provided, in federal courts alone, \$540 million in gross relief to at least 34 million consumers per year on average over a five-year period.⁴⁷ Class litigation settlements sometimes also require behavior

⁴⁴ Amchem Prod., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 617 (1997) (citing Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., 109 F.3d 338, 344 (7th Cir. 1997)).

^{43 1966} Adv. Comm. Notes, 28 U.S.C. App., p.698.

⁴⁵ See, e.g., In Re Checking Account Overdraft Litig., MDL 2036 (consolidated class claims against financial institutions for posting transactions from highest-to-lowest transaction size the banks thereby causing consumers to pay more in overdraft fees than they would have had the transactions been posted in a more neutral order).

⁴⁶ See, e.g., the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. 1693f(e); the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2)(B); the Truth in Lending Act (including the Consumer Leasing Act and the Fair Credit Billing Act), 15 U.S.C. 1640(a)(2)(B); and the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. 1691e(b).

⁴⁷ This total is a conservative estimate because it does not include the value of companies' agreements to change their behavior.

changes on the part of defendants (*i.e.* agreements to stop the allegedly harmful conduct at issue) and, through public attention on these cases, arguably affect or influence the business practices of companies more broadly. The Bureau believes that class cases may improve industry compliance with the law to the extent the threat of class litigation deters companies from engaging in conduct that could violate consumer protection laws or their contracts with consumers.

Arbitration agreements can be and are used to dismiss class cases that consumers file in court. As noted, the Study shows that at least tens of millions of consumers have consumer finance contracts that contain arbitration agreements. The Study further shows that most arbitration agreements can be used to move class lawsuits from court to arbitration, where class proceedings are typically prohibited under the arbitration agreement.⁴⁸ Companies often successfully use arbitration agreements in consumer financial class litigation cases filed in court to block access to any form of class proceeding (and thus class relief) for those claims.⁴⁹ For example, in cases involving credit card issuers with arbitration agreements, the Study found that credit card issuers known to have arbitration agreements used them to move for stay or dismissal of the case in 65% of the class litigation cases.⁵⁰ The Study found over 100 examples of federal court consumer finance class cases dismissed or stayed on the basis of an arbitration agreement since 2010 alone – preventing virtually all of the consumers who may have been part of those classes from pursuing classwide relief to which they may have been entitled under the law or the terms of their contracts. In addition, it is likely that some class cases were never filed in the first instance because attorneys aware of arbitration agreements and the existing case law knew that they had little chance of being allowed to pursue the case. Moreover, as the Study showed, consumers rarely choose to file individual arbitrations instead.

The Bureau understands that class lawsuits have been subject to significant criticism that regards them as an imperfect tool that can be expensive and cumbersome for all parties. However, the Bureau notes that Congress, state legislatures, and the courts have mechanisms for managing and improving class procedures over time. On balance, the Bureau believes that consumers are significantly better protected from harm by consumer financial service providers when they are able to aggregate claims. Accordingly, the Bureau believes that ensuring that consumers can pursue class litigation related to covered consumer financial products or services without being curtailed by arbitration agreements protects consumers, furthers the public interest, and is consistent with the Study.

⁵⁰ *Id*.

⁴⁸ Specifically, the Study reports that 93.9% of the credit card arbitration agreements, 88.5% of the checking account arbitration agreements, 97.9% of the prepaid card arbitration agreements, 88.7% of the storefront payday loan arbitration agreements, 100.0% of the private student loan arbitration agreements, and 85.7% of the mobile wireless arbitration agreements in our sample contained terms that expressly prohibit arbitration from proceeding on a class basis. Study, *supra* note 2, section 2.5.5.

⁴⁹ See, e.g., Study, supra note 2, section 6.7.2. Except for the analysis of cases against credit card issuers, the Study was not able to determine what percentage of cases involved a claim in which an arbitration agreement existed and which could have been relied upon in a motion to compel arbitration. Nevertheless, such motions to compel arbitration are filed in far greater proportion of class litigation cases (16.7%) than federal individual cases (less than 1%).

2. Requirement that pre-dispute arbitration agreements provide they are inapplicable to class litigation

To address the concerns discussed above, the Bureau is considering a proposal to require any arbitration agreement included in a contract for a consumer financial product or service offered by an entity subject to the proposals to provide explicitly that the arbitration agreement is inapplicable to cases filed in court on behalf of a class unless and until class certification is denied or the class claims are dismissed. As specified by the Dodd-Frank Act and discussed in more detail in part IV.C below, this requirement would apply to arbitration agreements entered into at least 180 days from the effective date of any regulation.⁵¹ The Bureau expects that such a proposal would include model or mandatory language that companies can include in arbitration agreements to comply with a rule. The Bureau believes that this approach would prevent companies from using an arbitration agreement to support a motion to compel arbitration in a class case, at least until class certification is denied or the class claims are dismissed.

This proposal seeks to address consumer harm caused by arbitration agreements that block consumers from filing or participating in class litigation, thereby reducing monetary and behavioral relief potentially available to consumers as well as reducing the deterrent effects from class cases. ⁵² As noted above, there is precedent in securities law for a rule that precludes arbitration agreements from blocking class litigation. Since 1992, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), a self-regulatory organization overseen by the Securities and Exchange Commission, has required arbitration agreements adopted by broker-dealers to include language disclaiming the application of the arbitration agreement to class cases. ⁵³

3. Alternatives considered

As noted in part IV.B.3 below, the Bureau considered prohibiting arbitration agreements entirely. That alternative, like the proposal discussed above, would ensure consumer access to class proceedings. However, for the reasons discussed below, the Bureau is not considering that proposal.

The Bureau considered an alternative proposal to address consumers' access to class proceedings. That alternative would have given consumer financial services providers discretion to use arbitration agreements that required that class proceedings be conducted in arbitration instead of court, provided those arbitration proceedings satisfied minimum standards of fairness. Put another way, the alternative proposal would have prohibited companies from using their arbitration agreements to block class proceedings altogether, but would have allowed them unilaterally to choose whether such proceedings were conducted in court or administered in arbitration.

⁵¹ The effective date is discussed in greater detail below in part III.C.

⁵² As discussed in more detail in part IV.A.3 below, this proposal would not prohibit an arbitration agreement from allowing class arbitration in addition to class litigation.

⁵³ FINRA Rule 2268(f). FINRA, formerly the National Association of Securities Dealers, also serves as an arbitral administrator for disputes concerning broker-dealers and its rules further prohibit broker-dealers from enforcing an arbitration agreement against a member of a certified or putative class case. FINRA Rule 12204(d). *See also* S.E.C. Release No. 31371 (1992) (approving FINRA Rule 2268(f)).

For reference, the rules of arbitration administrators such as AAA and JAMS (another large arbitration administrator) include procedures, derived from class action litigation procedures, for administering class arbitrations. These class arbitration procedures, discussed in the Study (Section 4.8), set out a three-step process: first, the arbitrator determines whether the arbitration agreement authorizes class arbitration; second, if the arbitration agreement authorizes class arbitrator determines whether a class should be certified, applying similar standards to those used in class litigation in court; third, if a class is certified (and the case does not settle), the arbitrator proceeds to resolve the case on the merits, resulting in a binding arbitration award.⁵⁴ A court may review decisions of the arbitrator only on limited grounds, as described in the Study.

There is little evidence, however, that these class arbitration rules have been widely applied in the resolution of consumer finance disputes. The Study found only two class arbitrations filed in AAA between 2010 and 2012 relating to the credit card, checking account/debit card, payday loan, prepaid card, private student loan, and auto loan markets. For this and other reasons, the Bureau rejected consideration of such an alternative proposal allowing companies to require class arbitrations for consumer finance claims because it is not confident that class arbitration is a reliable setting for aggregated resolution of consumer finance claims. The Bureau has reason to believe that few, if any, companies would choose to adopt arbitration agreements that permit class arbitration, rather than class litigation were the Bureau to adopt this option. Indeed, the Study noted that most arbitration agreements with class arbitration prohibitions also contain an "anti-severability" provision stating that if a court concludes that the no-class arbitration provision is not enforceable, the entire arbitration agreement also should be deemed to be unenforceable to prevent a court or arbitrator from mandating class arbitration, thereby demonstrating that companies have effectively chosen class litigation in court over class arbitration. Relatedly, industry groups have expressly stated that class litigation is preferable to class arbitration. For example, in response to the Bureau's 2012 Request for Information, an industry trade association contended that, if forced to submit to class arbitration, industry uniformly would abandon arbitration agreements – thereby risking exposure to class litigation instead.55

Notwithstanding these concerns about class arbitration, the Bureau notes that the proposal being considered would permit an arbitration agreement that allows for class arbitration provided a consumer could not be forced to participate in class arbitration instead of class litigation. In other words, an arbitration agreement that allowed a consumer to choose whether the claim is filed in a class case in court or in arbitration would be permissible under the proposal (but one that permitted the claim to only be filed in arbitration would not be permissible).

_

⁵⁴ Under the AAA procedures, the party filing the class arbitration pays a preliminary filing fee of \$3,350 for the first step of the case. If the case proceeds past the first step (determination as to whether the arbitration agreement permits class arbitration), the party filing the case also pays a supplemental filing fee. If the case proceeds to the third stage (following class certification), the arbitrator can allocate administrative fees for the arbitration based on the law and the arbitration agreement.

⁵⁵ See also Brief for Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America as Amicus Curiae in Support of Plaintiff-Appellants, *Marriott Ownership Resorts, Inc. v. Sterman*, No. 15-10627 at 9 (11th Cir. Apr. 1, 2015) ("Class arbitration is a worst-of-all-worlds Frankenstein's monster: It combines the enormous stakes, formality and expense of litigation ... with exceedingly limited judicial review of the arbitrators' decisions.").

- B. Proposals to impose conditions on the use of predispute arbitration agreements by requiring submission of arbitral claims and awards
 - 1. Why is the Bureau considering proposals to condition the use of pre-dispute arbitration agreements by requiring submission of arbitral claims and awards?

The benefits and drawbacks of arbitration in individual proceedings, as well as the frequency of individual arbitration, have long been contested. The Bureau believes that the Study provides the most comprehensive data on individual consumer financial arbitration frequency and outcomes to date.

The Study found that filing an arbitration case is slightly less costly than initiating a case in federal court and that the time to resolution in arbitration is similar to the time to resolution of an individual case filed in federal court.⁵⁶ As to outcomes, the Study found that consumers prevailed on affirmative claims significantly less often than companies in arbitration, although the Study does not establish whether this is because of the types or relative merits of claims brought in arbitration by both consumers and companies.

It is important to note that the Study was limited to cases handled by AAA between 2010 and 2012; the Study did not review arbitrations administered by other firms during other periods. For example, the Study noted but did not review individual arbitrations administered by the National Arbitration Forum (NAF), which for a number of years prior to the period covered by the Study was the predominant administrator of consumer finance arbitrations. NAF primarily handled debt collection disputes, including 214,000 consumer arbitrations in 2006 alone. The Minnesota Attorney General filed suit against NAF in 2009 alleging state law fraud and other claims arising from allegations that NAF shared common ownership with a number of firms that filed debt collection claims before it. As is noted above, NAF agreed to permanently stop handling consumer arbitrations to resolve this litigation. Afterwards, both AAA and JAMS voluntarily stopped accepting debt collection disputes unless the consumer agreed to arbitration after the debt collection dispute arose. However, AAA and JAMS could end their voluntary moratoria at any time or entities could choose other providers.

The Bureau believes that there is a potential for consumer harm if arbitration agreements were to be administered by biased administrators (as was alleged in the case of NAF) or individual arbitrations were otherwise conducted in an unfair manner. Thus, the Bureau is considering a limited intervention that would serve to deter the emergence of such unfair arbitrations and also to shed sunlight on any unfairness that might emerge, while at the same time would impose minimal regulatory burdens on current arbitration activity.

⁵⁶ The time to close for class court cases, though, is longer than for both individual arbitrations and individual court cases.

With respect to claims, the Bureau is considering collecting them, as well as potentially publishing them on its website. The collection of claims would permit the Bureau (and the public, if the Bureau chose to publish them) to monitor arbitrations on an ongoing basis and to identify trends in arbitration proceedings (such as changes in the frequency with which claims are filed or to the subject matter of the claims filed). The monitoring and publication of claims further could assist the Bureau and the public in identifying potentially problematic business practices that harm consumers, particularly since many claims settle before an award is rendered.

As to submission of awards, the Bureau is similarly considering publishing them on its website. The Bureau believes that the submission requirement under consideration would prevent the types of harm outlined above and that publication would provide transparency as to how different arbitrators decide cases, signaling to attorneys for consumers and companies which sorts of cases favor and do not favor consumers, in order that better pre-arbitration case assessment can take place.⁵⁷ Making awards public may also generate public confidence in the arbitrators selected for a specific case as well as the arbitration system, at least for administrators whose awards tend to demonstrate fairness and impartiality. While the Bureau does not expect that arbitral awards would be deemed precedential in a court or arbitration, publication may help develop understanding of the facts and law at issue in those disputes. Consumers, public enforcers, and plaintiffs' attorneys could review the published information for trends that warrant further action.

2. Requirement to submit arbitral claims and awards to the Bureau

The Bureau is considering a proposal to require covered entities that use arbitration agreements in their contracts with consumers to submit initial claim filings and written awards in consumer finance arbitration proceedings to the Bureau through a process the Bureau would expect to establish as part of this rulemaking. The Bureau is also considering whether to publish the claims or awards to its website, making them available to the public. Before collecting or publishing any arbitral claims or awards, the Bureau would ensure that these activities comply with privacy considerations. This aspect of the proposal under consideration would not require changes to be made to the text of companies' arbitration agreements, alter the conduct of arbitration proceedings, or impose requirements on the content of written awards and, as discussed below in part V, would impose minimal costs on covered entities.

Currently, the two main administrators of consumer financial arbitrations do not require publication of claims or awards in matters between consumers and providers of financial services. Specifically, AAA does not currently require publication of consumer claims or awards although it "may choose to publish an award." JAMS also does not publish its claims or

⁵⁷ The Bureau already publishes narratives and outcomes data concerning consumer complaints filed with the Bureau. The Bureau has stated that it "believes that greater transparency of information does tend to improve customer service and identify patterns in the treatment of consumers, leading to stronger compliance mechanisms and customer service. . . . In addition, disclosure of consumer narratives will provide companies with greater insight into issues and challenges occurring across their markets, which can supplement their own company-specific perspectives and lend more insight into appropriate practices." Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Disclosure of Consumer Complaint Narrative Data, Docket No. CFPB-2014-0016, at 14 (Mar. 12, 2015). Similarly, the Bureau understands that state law data requirements generated information used to identify certain problematic practices in NAF.

⁵⁸ AAA Rule R-43(c).

awards. (NAF also did not publish these items when it administered consumer arbitrations.) Arbitration administrators are, however, currently required to publish data about certain consumer finance arbitrations (although not the awards themselves) pursuant to California law.⁵⁹

Some arbitration providers already require publication of awards for disputes concerning matters other than consumer finance. A self-regulatory organization, FINRA, requires publication of all awards in disputes between customers and broker-dealers and publishes them on its public website.⁶⁰ In addition, AAA requires the publication of awards in all employment arbitrations and awards and dockets for all class arbitration proceedings before it.

It is important to note that the proposal under consideration would apply equally to individual arbitration proceedings and any arbitration that could proceed on an aggregated basis. Consumer financial class arbitrations may occur, whether because the parties agree to them post-dispute or because an arbitration agreement that allows a consumer to choose whether to file a class case in court or in arbitration would be permissible under the proposal, as is discussed in part IV.A. Particularly in light of the concerns raised about class arbitration, this data would also be helpful to the Bureau, consumers, companies, and possibly to other regulatory entities and academics who study consumer finance.

3. Alternatives considered

The Bureau considered alternative proposals to address individual arbitrations, including prohibiting the use of arbitration agreements in individual cases outright or requiring arbitration agreements to specify use of arbitration administrators that have procedures to ensure that individual arbitrations are administered in accordance with principles of fundamental fairness. The Bureau is not considering a proposal to prohibit arbitration agreements or to require safeguards for fundamental fairness for individual disputes at this time. The Bureau is not doing so because the evidence obtained thus far, including evidence analyzed in the Study, shows that few individual consumer finance claims are administered now and is inconclusive due in part to the low number of claims resolved in arbitration.⁶¹ Further, the proposal to require submission of claims and awards which the Bureau would consider publishing may be sufficient to protect consumers from the risk of harm that may occur without mandated safeguards.

⁵⁹ Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1281.96 (requiring administrators of consumer arbitrations in California to publish at least quarterly 12 data points on each arbitration). A recent study indicated that many arbitration administrators in California did not comply with the requirement or only partially complied. David J. Jung, *et al.*, Reporting Consumer Arbitration Data in California: An Analysis of Compliance with California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281.96 (Dec. 2013), *available at* http://gov.uchastings.edu/docs/arbitration-report/2014-arbitration-update.

⁶⁰ FINRA Code of Arb. Proc. for Customer Disputes, Rule 12904(e) (requiring publication of the parties' names); Rule 12904(h) ("All awards shall be made publicly available."). All FINRA arbitrations are on a searchable database. FINRA Arbitration Awards Online at http://finraawardsonline.finra.org/.

⁶¹ With respect to the alternative of prohibiting the use of arbitration agreements in individual cases, the Bureau believes that the cost of such an alternative to small entities would be comparable to the cost of the proposals under consideration or less, because the effect of both would be the same as to class proceedings and there are relatively few individual consumer finance cases in either arbitration or litigation.

In rejecting these alternative proposals at this time, the Bureau notes that further interventions, up to and including prohibiting the use of arbitration agreements in all cases, may become appropriate. One benefit among others of the submission requirement being considered is that the Bureau can more effectively monitor arbitrations to determine if such regulation is needed in the future.

C. Effective Date and Coverage

1. Effective Date

As directed by the Dodd-Frank Act, the Bureau anticipates that the proposals, if adopted, would become operative no earlier than 180 days after the effective date of a final rule. ⁶² The Bureau currently contemplates setting an effective date of 30 days after the rule is published. Thus, the Bureau anticipates that such a rule would not apply to arbitration agreements entered into before 210 days after a rule is published by the Bureau. The Bureau seeks input from the SERs on the feasibility of complying with the proposals under consideration in that timeframe. Specifically, the Bureau seeks input on how and when contracts containing arbitration agreements are created and distributed and whether such practices might make compliance by the proposed effective date difficult. This input would then determine whether the Bureau should consider an alternative (*i.e.*, longer) compliance date for all entities or for some or all small entities in particular that would be covered by the proposal under consideration.

2. Coverage

Small entities that might be affected by this rulemaking within the meaning of SBREFA include those that provide the following financial products or services for consumer purposes, as defined in Dodd-Frank section 1002 and subject to the limitations in Dodd-Frank sections 1027 and 1029:

- extensions of credit by a creditor or credit card issuer under the Truth in Lending Act (15 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) and the Bureau's Regulation Z (12 CFR Part 1026), or by a creditor under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (15 U.S.C. 1691 et seq.) and the Bureau's Regulation B (12 CFR Part 1002), or the brokering, servicing, acquiring, or purchasing of any such credit, extending or brokering automobile leases as defined in Bureau regulations (to be codified at 12 CFR 1090.108), or providing debt relief services for such credit or automobile leases under the Telemarketing Sales Rule (16 CFR Part 310); and
- accounts with depository institutions under the Truth in Savings Act (12 U.S.C. 4301) and the Bureau's Regulation DD (12 CFR Part 1030) and the National Credit Union Administration's implementing regulations (12 CFR Part 707); and
- products or services subject to the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (15 U.S.C. 1693 et seq.) and the Bureau's Regulation E (12 CFR Part 1005), transmitting or exchanging funds under Dodd-Frank Act section 1002(15)(A)(iv), or check cashing under Dodd-Frank Act section 1002(15)(A)(vi); and

__

⁶² Dodd-Frank Act section 1028(d) ("Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any regulation prescribed by the Bureau under subsection (b) shall apply, consistent with the terms of the regulation, to any agreement between a consumer and a covered person entered into after the end of the 180-day period beginning on the effective date of the regulation, as established by the Bureau.").

- obtaining information from a credit reporting agency as defined in the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.) for the purposes of monitoring, on behalf of the consumer, the consumer's credit; and
- collecting debt related to any of these consumer financial products or services.

This includes but is not limited to banks, credit unions, credit card issuers, certain auto lenders, small-dollar or payday lenders, auto title lenders, installment and open-end lenders, private student lenders, providers of other credit in certain other contexts, loan originators that are not creditors, providers of credit in the form of deferred third-party billing services, providers of certain auto leases for at least 90 days, servicers of covered credit and auto leases, remittance transfer providers, providers of domestic money transfer services or currency exchange, general-purpose reloadable prepaid card issuers, certain providers of virtual currency products and services, check cashing providers, credit service/repair organizations, debt settlement firms, providers of credit monitoring services, and debt buyers.

The Bureau is also considering whether to cover additional consumer financial products and services; for example, payment processing. The Bureau is considering excluding from its proposed regulation products or services that are in any of the following categories: (1) already subject to arbitration rules issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission,⁶³ (2) provided by persons when not regularly engaged in business activity (*e.g.*, an individual who may loan money to a friend), (3) provided by the federal government; (4) provided by state, local, and tribal governments and government entities to persons in their jurisdiction, or to persons outside their jurisdiction if not credit that is subject to the Truth in Lending Act or Regulation Z; and (5) credit a business extends for the consumer's purchase of its own nonfinancial goods or services when covered by Dodd-Frank Act section 1027(a)(2)(B)(ii). The Bureau is still evaluating whether regulatory action is warranted in these categories of activity, but does not want to delay action with regard to the operation of arbitration agreements in contracts for other types of consumer financial products or services in the meantime.

The Bureau seeks input on whether it should cover consumer financial products or services that are subject to other consumer laws and regulations or activities under a broader set of laws over which the Bureau has some authority. The Bureau further seeks input on each of these exclusions under consideration and also on whether additional consumer financial products or services should be excluded from the proposals under consideration.

V. Potential Impacts on Small Entities

A. Overview

The Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) generally requires an agency to carefully consider the economic impacts rules will have on small entities.⁶⁴ For purposes of the RFA analysis, the proposal the Bureau is considering may apply to those covered persons providing the consumer financial products or services outlined in part IV.C.2 above.

_

⁶³ See generally FINRA Code of Arbitration Procedure (subject to review and approval by the SEC); see also 17 CFR 166.5(b) (CFTC regulations implementing Commodity Exchange Act and requiring that arbitration agreements be voluntary).

^{64 5} U.S.C. 601.

In order to estimate the potential impacts on small entities the Bureau needs to both ascertain the number of covered entities that are small entities and the percentage of these entities that have arbitration agreements, realizing that these percentages might vary across markets. ⁶⁵ The entities to which the proposals under consideration might apply can be roughly subdivided into two categories. The first category is comprised of entities that primarily provide consumer financial products or services. For example, a bank that issues credit cards and provides checking accounts or an entity that provides payday loans would generally fall into this category because providing that product or service is the entity's primary business. The second category is comprised of entities that provide consumer financial products or services ancillary or incidental to the provision of nonfinancial goods or services. For example, a college that provides financial advice to its students or a seller of nonfinancial goods or services providing deferred third-party billing services would generally fall into this category.

The Study provided the proportion of entities that currently have arbitration agreements in their contracts in a subset of the markets that have covered entities: credit cards, checking accounts, general purpose reloadable prepaid cards, payday loans, private student loans, and mobile wireless third-party billing. In terms of the categorization described above, five are primary consumer financial product and service providers and one provides financial products or services ancillary or incidental to nonfinancial services. For other markets, anecdotal data that the Bureau has obtained suggests that at least some of these covered persons use arbitration agreements. The Bureau continues to analyze public data sources and other publicly available information, but has not arrived at an estimate of the percentage of entities that use arbitration agreements in these other markets. In connection with this SBREFA process, the Bureau seeks data from market participants on the prevalence of arbitration agreements in contracts for these products or services among small entities and on whether these arbitration agreements contain provisions that effectively prohibit class proceedings.

As noted above, the Dodd-Frank Act prohibits arbitration agreements in mortgage lending credit agreements. The prevalence of arbitration agreements in mortgage agreements was small for at least a decade prior to the passage of the Dodd-Frank Act, partially stemming from the Government Sponsored Entities' policies to not purchase residential mortgage contracts that contained arbitration agreements. Thus, although the Bureau is not considering an explicit exemption for residential mortgage lending, the Bureau does not expect this market to be impacted, except with respect to participants in the market who are not party to the credit agreement.

The Bureau believes that affected entities generally could face three types of costs from the proposals under consideration with respect to class arbitrations: (1) administrative costs due to a requirement that covered entities update their contracts to revise arbitration agreement language that otherwise would not comply with the Bureau's proposal (*i.e.* to include language in new agreements providing that arbitration agreements do not apply to cases filed on a class basis), (2) costs related to additional potential liability due to class litigation exposure (including defense costs, court costs, substantive settlement and damages exposure), and (3) increased cost of compliance with existing consumer finance and other laws and other costs due to entities attempting to minimize any such additional class litigation exposure in the future. The three types of costs are described in more detail below. The Bureau seeks SERs' input on each cost, as well as any other costs that affected entities might face.

 $^{^{65}}$ See Section 2 of the Study, supra note 2, where the Bureau analyzed the prevalence of use of arbitration agreements in several markets.

The Bureau is also considering a proposal that would require covered entities to submit to the Bureau arbitral awards and initial claim filings for any arbitration in connection with consumer financial products or services in which the covered entity is involved. The Bureau would then consider publishing information regarding the awards and the claims on its website. Given the current low prevalence of individual arbitrations as noted in the Study, the Bureau believes that this requirement imposes a negligible cost on each entity that includes arbitration agreements in its contracts. The vast majority of the entities covered are unlikely to face this cost at all – the Bureau counted individual arbitrations administered yearly in major markets in the major administrator (AAA) to be in the hundreds in total. This number included individual arbitrations involving entities above the SBA thresholds that delineate small entities for the purpose of the RFA and SBREFA. For the few small entities that would be directly affected because they participate in an arbitration proceeding, they likely would be required to send the Bureau an electronic file with documents that the entity already possesses. The Bureau seeks input on this cost, but believes that it is less than \$100 per individual arbitration and that most small entities will not be participating in any consumer finance arbitrations in a given year. The Bureau further seeks input on whether a redaction requirement would materially impact this cost.

In theory, some of the costs of this rule might be passed from covered entities through to their customers. For example, credit card issuers might increase their interest rates or fees in response to the costs identified above. However, the Bureau's detailed analysis of data regarding credit card issuers in the Study did not find statistically significant evidence of that occurring. The Bureau nonetheless seeks input, particularly any empirical evidence, on the proportion of the costs the entities expect to pass through to consumers, either in terms of higher prices or in other ways (for example, lower quality products).

Entities that do not currently use arbitration agreements in their consumer financial products or services might benefit from this rulemaking. Such entities may tend to prioritize compliance and customer service investments to manage their litigation risk, but find that the costs of that approach put them at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies that simply rely on the clauses as a shield. The rule could create a more level playing field that would tend to encourage their competitors to make similar investments. Furthermore, certain statutes actually limit liability for companies that fail to comply with the statute notwithstanding valid efforts to comply, thus rewarding companies that invest more in compliance.⁶⁶

B. Administrative cost of including new language in future contracts between covered persons and consumers

As is noted above, arbitration agreements are typically included in contracts between covered persons and consumers for consumer financial products or services. In many cases, these

⁶⁶ E.g., Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(c) ("A creditor or assignee may not be held liable in any action brought under this section or section 1635 of this title for a violation of this subchapter if the creditor or assignee shows by a preponderance of evidence that the violation was not intentional and

creditor or assignee shows by a preponderance of evidence that the violation was not intentional and resulted from a bona fide error notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such error."); Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(b) (requiring a court to consider whether a debt collector's noncompliance was "intentional" in determining liability).

contracts are provided in writing to consumers either in paper or online, but in some cases are posted in a storefront when consumers contract for a new product or service. If the Bureau adopts the proposals being considered, affected small entities would be required to include new language in the standard-form contracts used starting at a certain point in the future -i.e., those contracts with arbitration agreements entered into after approximately 210 days after any rule is published. (Arbitration agreements already entered into would not need to be changed or amended.) This model or Bureau-mandated language would provide that the arbitration agreements cannot be applied to class litigation. For the reasons listed below, the administrative cost of including this new language in the affected form contract is difficult to ascertain in the abstract, without asking small entities for relevant data. Accordingly, the Bureau seeks input on the administrative cost of including this new language in the affected form contracts that a given small entity would use in the future for covered consumer financial services or products. In addition, whether entities choose to maintain arbitration agreements under the rule may vary significantly. For example, some entities may use arbitration agreements strictly to manage class proceeding risk and may remove them if the Bureau were to adopt the proposal under consideration, while others may also value the ability to use them in individual disputes and thus will continue to use them. The Bureau therefore also seeks input on the extent to which entities would choose to remove arbitration agreements from their contracts entirely as opposed to including new language in arbitration agreements they use in the future, and the cost of doing so.

There may be a number of different factors affecting this administrative cost. One factor is what type of labor the small entity deploys to add new language to such contracts. For example, an employee could simply insert the Bureau's model language into a version stored on a computer system. The small entity may use an in-house or outside vendor in this process, such as a lawyer, form provider, or other type of vendor. These services may be provided as part of a larger suite of services provided by the vendor (and thus the small entity may incur no charge to implement this contract change). Overall, the Bureau believes that there will be cost differences depending on whether, for a given product, the entity is using its own (customized and internally developed) contracts or arbitration agreements or whether the entity is using a form provider's contracts or arbitration agreement.

The Bureau seeks further input on the extent to which form providers are used. Because the Bureau anticipates providing model contract language, and form providers generally serve many entities, the Bureau anticipates the form provider's cost per entity for providing a new form contract would be minimal. Nevertheless, the Bureau seeks input on what costs, if any, are involved for entities that use contracts provided by a form provider, and in particular how much additional review the entity would typically engage in after receiving an updated form contract from a provider. The affected entities might also use the language of model agreements from AAA or other arbitral administrators. The Bureau seeks input on the costs of covered persons' updating contracts that are based on such models and input on why an entity might deviate from using model language provided by the Bureau.

Additionally, an entity might have several product lines, each product line with its own contract that the entity would need to update. The entities might need to update posted terms, whether they are physically posted, or posted on a website, or made available in a mobile application. Again, costs could be impacted, as described above, by whether an entity uses its own forms or those created by a form provider.

Finally, the Bureau expects that entities will be able to use existing inventory of preprinted contracts they have, if any, before the rule is in effect. However, for some affected entities this

length of time might be too short to allow it to clear out the existing inventory of contracts and other materials that would need to be updated. The Bureau seeks input on the existence and the magnitude of such costs.

C. Legal cost due to possible additional class litigation exposure

If affected entities are no longer able to use arbitration agreements to effectively terminate class litigation, those entities would likely be exposed to the possibility of additional class litigation or threats of class litigation.

In its Study, the Bureau found on average 187 class actions per year in the credit card, checking/debit card, prepaid card, payday loan, auto loan, and private student loan markets (including cases against debt collectors in these markets) filed in federal courts and a sample of state courts representing about a fifth of the U.S. population. Some companies – particularly larger firms over SBA size limits for small entities – faced multiple class actions. These cases were filed against companies that used arbitration agreements as well as companies that did not. The Study did not disaggregate the number of these cases that were filed against small entities. As a point of comparison, however, a very preliminary estimate is that there are over 40,000 small entities in these six markets.

To the extent that the adoption of the proposal under consideration would increase exposure of small entities using arbitration agreements to class litigation, these entities might incur the following directly related cost increases: legal defense costs (including attorneys' fees, court costs and expert witness fees), settlement costs, and the costs attributable to the time that management and staff of the affected entity would have to spend dealing with related matters. In the Study, the Bureau documented the incidence of class litigation in particular markets, both in federal courts as well as in a sample of state courts. The Bureau is seeking input on: (1) the prevalence of actual filed or threatened class cases against affected small entities and whether the proposals under consideration would alter that prevalence, (2) costs related to defending against a class case, and (3) other possible costs associated with a potential increase in the incidence of class cases. This last category of costs could include, for example, expenditures that occur before a case is filed. While the Study documented the settlement amounts in federal class litigation settlements, such settlements typically do not reflect both the defendants' own legal defense and court costs and the opportunity costs of the defendants' employees' time spent on class litigation.

The Bureau continues to seek input and data on these costs.⁶⁷ Specifically, wages for in-house lawyers and support staff and, where used, outside defense lawyers vary widely by geography, skill level, practice area, and size of firm, among other variables. According to a survey by a

_

⁶⁷ In response to the Bureau's 2012 Request for Information, several industry trade associations noted that calculating defense costs may be difficult, if not impossible, because most businesses do not track such costs separately. Another industry trade association did, however, point to an annual survey of firms relating to class action defense costs. *See* Carlton Fields Jorden Burt 2015 Class Action Survey, available at http://classactionsurvey.com. That survey states that it covers "350 companies of all sizes," and it did not break out defense costs for small entities. The survey also covered cases of varying types (consumer fraud and other types, such as securities class actions), and did not contain data on the cost of retaining outside counsel on a per-year per-case basis for the sorts of cases that affected entities might be defending.

legal consultancy, small companies (with revenue up to \$25 million) pay in-house attorneys a salary between \$81,500 and \$181,000 and paralegals/legal assistants between \$41,250 and \$75,250 depending on experience. Outside law firms may utilize paralegals/legal assistants, associate attorneys, partner attorneys, or some combination of these on a given matter. One recent survey found that during 2014 the average hourly rate charged by a law firm partner in a general litigation practice was \$350, and the average hourly rate charged by a law firm partner practicing in the area of finance, loans, and investments was \$450.69 Another survey found that associates charge average rates between \$274 and \$400 depending on the size of the firm. Another survey found that paralegal/legal assistant hourly rates ranged between \$60 and \$170.71 Use of alternative fee arrangements, as well as fee caps, also may be increasing and may further vary costs incurred in defending class proceedings.

As to how long class cases take to defend, the Study reported data at Table 7 of Section 6, finding the median time to closure for closed class cases analyzed in the Study was 218 days. Class cases closed after a non-class settlement or potential non-class settlement (68% of the closed class cases cases) took a median of less than 200 days. Cases resulting in final approval of class settlements closed in a median of 670 days.

The Bureau is further interested in the breakdown of settlement costs in class litigation. In particular, the proportion of costs that goes to pay the class members themselves. The Study sheds some light on this topic, showing that in 419 class litigations concerning consumer finance, the plaintiffs' attorney's fees were on average 21% of cash relief to the class at the time the Bureau was able to assess cash relief. The Bureau seeks further input on these costs.

To be able to measure these costs accurately, the Bureau encourages SERs to consider similar costs that the SERs presumably faced before they adopted arbitration agreements. This information will aid the Bureau in evaluating the impact of arbitration agreements on the SERs' litigation costs.

On the one hand, the proposal under consideration would prohibit an entity from blocking a class proceeding using an arbitration agreement. This may increase the incentive for consumers to file such cases. However, due to the increased potential for these cases, as discussed in part D below, companies may invest more in compliance to limit their exposure to class proceedings. As a result, this increased compliance may, in turn, decrease the incentive to file such cases. For these reasons, it is difficult to project frequency of future class litigation based on historical data. For reference, the Bureau believes that the expected cost of facing class litigation historically has

⁶⁸ See Robert Half, Legal 2015 Salary Guide at 13, available at http://www.roberthalf.com/legal/the-2015-legal-salary-guide (also noting that medium size companies (annual revenue between \$25 million and \$250 million) pay in-house attorneys between \$97,500 and \$225,000). Relatedly, the Bureau of Labor Statistics reports that the median annual wage for a lawyer in the finance industry in 2012 was \$134,940. See Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2014-15 Edition, Lawyers, available at http://www.bls.gov/ooh/legal/lawyers.htm. The mean annual wage for paralegals and legal assistants was \$49,680. See Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Employment and Wages, May 2014 – 23-2011 Paralegals and Legal Assistants, available at http://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes232011.htm.

⁶⁹ LexisNexis, 2014 CounselLink Enterprise Legal Management Trends Report at 26.

⁷⁰ ABA Journal, "A lawyer's value, hour by hour," Sept. 1, 2014, available at http://www.abajournal.com/magazine/article/a lawyers value hour by hour/.

⁷¹ National Association of Legal Assistants 2015 National Utilization and Compensation Survey Report, Section 3 Billing Rates, at 7-8, available at http://www.nala.org/Upload/file/PDF-Files/News-Articles/15SEC3.pdf.

been small for any given entity; that is, considering the low frequency of class litigation, the likelihood that any given small entity would be sued has been low. The Bureau identified fewer than 100 consumer finance class litigation settlements per year in federal court in its Study, many of which involved entities above the SBA small entity thresholds. In total, the Bureau could only find fewer than 160 class litigations filed per year in federal courts in six markets. While the Bureau could not analyze all cases filed on the state level, it did review cases filed in a set of states accounting for roughly one fifth of the U.S. population. There, the Bureau found roughly 30 cases filed per year in six markets. Also, note that the Bureau found that while 15% of the cases result in a final class settlement and an additional 2% had a class settlement pending approval as of August 31, 2014 (the latest date such outcomes were analyzed in the Study), the rest did not (at least in the time frame analyzed in the Study). For example, the most common outcome in class cases that were filed and analyzed in the Study was for a settlement or a potential settlement with the plaintiff consumer before the case was certified as a class case. The Bureau requests comments on costs related to both the cases that result in a final class settlement and to the other cases as well. These numbers include filings that involved entities above the SBA small entity thresholds; however, the numbers of small entities affected might increase to the extent that more cases are filed due to the inability of defendants to invoke arbitration agreements to effectively terminate class litigation.

Furthermore, the Bureau expects that private class litigation attorneys may have fewer incentives to file class litigation against a smaller entity than a larger entity. For example, several consumer finance statutes feature explicit damages caps which may be related to an entity's revenue, and smaller entities generally have fewer consumers, which also may limit what can be recovered.⁷²

D. Possible cost due to managing any perceived risk of increased exposure to class litigation

One of the possible effects of a prohibition on the use of arbitration agreements in class litigation is that entities might take steps to decrease the risk of class litigation exposure in the future (to the extent they perceive that the proposals under consideration would create increased exposure). These adjustments could come in several forms, such as increased investments in compliance, changes to product design, increased purchase of insurance (or increased insurance premiums). The potential for a given entity to engage in some or all of these adjustments will depend upon, among other things, their existing practices and level of compliance with laws that have private remedies. These practices and compliance levels vary both within and across markets and jurisdictions.

It is difficult to quantify these costs for the proposal, in part because covered entities may each respond differently to it. Even for existing regulations, it is difficult to quantify such costs. In 2013, the Bureau published a report seeking to understand the effects of compliance with parts of Regulations DD, E, P, and V on bank operations (the 2013 Report).⁷³ In the 2013 Report, the

⁷² See, e.g., Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2)(B) (limiting statutory damages in class actions to "the lesser of \$500,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of the debt collector."); Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. 1640(a)(2)(B) (limiting damages class actions to "the lesser of \$1,000,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of the creditor").

⁷³ CFPB Report, "Understanding the Effects of Certain Deposit Regulations on Financial Institutions' Operations: Findings on Relative Costs for Systems, Personnel, and Processes at Seven Institutions"

Bureau conducted a detailed analysis of operations at seven banks and, among other findings, analyzed how compliance with aforementioned regulations is spread across the banks' business functions depending on regulatory requirements.74 While working on the 2013 Report, the Bureau did not find any other relevant data sources providing similar information. The 2013 Report outlined the difficulties involved in measuring the incremental cost of such compliance activities, including that financial institutions do not generally keep such statistics requiring that the data be collected through detailed personnel interviews at the financial institution that required a significant investment of time from both Bureau and institution personnel. These same difficulties arise in quantifying the cost of compliance for the proposal under consideration across the various markets that would be covered.

With respect to the potential for increased investment in compliance, there might be a one-time component of this effect, such as reviewing existing products, policies and procedures in response to a rule from the Bureau. For example, an entity might decide to go through a onetime review of its policies and procedures and staff training materials to ensure that the risks of a future class litigation exposure are minimized. This review might result in revisions to policies and related additional staff training. There might also be an ongoing component of systematic policies, reviews of procedures, and staff training to ensure a consistently low level of conduct of the type that companies perceive can create exposure to class litigation. There might also be additional expense to the extent that laws change, court decisions interpreting those laws are publicized, or new products are developed. The ongoing component could also include additional periodic personnel time spent on review of policies and procedures, additional periodic training that employees and third-party service providers must receive, as well as any outside audits or legal reviews that the entity might perform.

Another example of an ongoing component is entities' purchase of insurance that would cover some or all of the costs of class litigation. Insurance policies can vary widely in their scope, exclusions, and levels of coverage. Pricing also depends on underwriting the risk specific to the entity. Anecdotal reports suggest that general commercial liability policies may cover defense costs in some class cases, and that larger companies may seek specialized class action insurance. However, the Bureau has not found data indicating the incremental cost of insuring against consumer financial class action defense and liability costs, availability of such policies, and whether they would cover all potential class claims and related attorney's fees. The Bureau believes that while there would be some one-time upfront costs of selecting the right insurance provider, most of the cost would stem from the ongoing insurance premium payments once a company selected a policy. The Bureau seeks input on the extent that affected small entities would seek such insurance if they do not have it already and what the entities believe the payments would be if such insurance is available.

The ongoing component could also include costs due to changes in product and services. For example, an entity might decide that a particular feature of a product makes the entity more susceptible to class litigation, and therefore the entity would decide to remove that feature from the product, possibly resulting in decreased revenue. For example, lenders may abandon an aggressive business practice for the fear that it will violate laws with private remedies. Similarly, an entity might update its product features based on external information, such as actions by either regulators or private actors against the entity's competitors. The ongoing component could also include changes to the product design process. Product design could consume more

(Nov. 2013) (the 2013 Report), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201311 cfpb report findings-relative-costs.pdf.

⁷⁴ See the 2013 Report at 65, Table 5.

time due to additional rounds of legal and compliance review. The prohibition on the use of the arbitration agreements in class litigation could result in some products not being developed and marketed primarily due to the risk associated with class litigation. The Bureau encourages the SERs to provide specific examples of products that might not have been developed absent the ability to include arbitration agreements in their terms.

Finally, the ongoing component could also include entities investing additional resources into informal dispute resolution. Similarly, the entities could invest more in customer service in order to minimize the number of disputes arising.

E. Cost of credit to small entities

Pursuant to the RFA, the Bureau considers the impact of the proposals under consideration on the cost of credit to small entities. For several reasons, the Bureau believes that the proposals under consideration would have a minimal impact on the cost of credit to small entities. As noted in part IV.C.2 above, the Bureau is considering an exemption for credit a business extends for the consumer's purchase of the business's own nonfinancial goods or services that are covered by Dodd-Frank Act section 1027(a)(2)(B)(ii).⁷⁵ Absent such an exemption, merchants granting credit to consumers would be covered by the scope proposed above if the merchant sells, assigns, or otherwise conveys that consumer credit to a third party. Such sale, assignment, or conveyance could occur, for example, in certain types of commercial borrowing engaged in by merchants. However, due to the exemption under consideration, such merchants would not be covered on this basis. Thus the proposal would not affect the cost of credit of such merchants when they are engaged in such borrowing activities.

In addition, there is a potential for an indirect impact on the cost of credit for at least some of those small entities that would be covered by the proposal under consideration. In particular, this impact could occur for small entities that use credit cards and other financial products or services that are primarily used by consumers. However, the Bureau believes this impact would only occur to the extent any costs of the proposals under consideration are passed through to consumers. Such a pass through of costs to consumers could also affect small entities using these financial products or services because covered persons, such as credit card issuers, might not be able to perfectly price discriminate between consumers and small entities. The Bureau does not believe that this increase, even if it were to occur, would significantly impact small entities or their access to credit, but the Bureau seeks input on this question and more generally on any impact on the cost of credit to small entities.

* * *

The Bureau seeks input on the costs outlined above and on any related costs. Many of these costs are opportunity costs (e.g. management time involved and extra time spent on product

_

⁷⁵ Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the Bureau generally does not have authority to regulate credit that merchants, retailers, or other persons provide to consumers to purchase their own goods or services that are not financial in nature. However, if such merchants, retailers, or other persons sell, convey, or otherwise assign this consumer credit to a third-party (when the credit is not in default or delinquent), the Bureau does have authority to regulate such credit. *See* Dodd-Frank Act section 1027(a)(2)(B)(ii). The Bureau understands that it may be common for merchants, retailers, and other persons to make such sales, assignment, or conveyances of consumer credit as part of their business commercial borrowing arrangements. One example is through "factoring," in which a business sells its accounts receivable at a discount, in order to generate cash flow.

design and development in additional rounds of legal and compliance review) that may be difficult to quantify. Nonetheless, the Bureau encourages SERs to attempt quantification to the extent possible and also to provide specific examples. To be able to measure these costs more accurately, the Bureau encourages SERs to consider similar costs that the SERs presumably faced before they adopted their arbitration agreements.

Appendix A: Legal Authority

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. 111-2013, 124 Stat. 1376 (approved July 21, 2010)

Sec. 1028. Authority to Restrict Mandatory Pre-Dispute Arbitration.

- (a) STUDY AND REPORT.—The Bureau shall conduct a study of, and shall provide a report to Congress concerning, the use of agreements providing for arbitration of any future dispute between covered persons and consumers in connection with the offering or providing of consumer financial products or services.
- (b) FURTHER AUTHORITY.—The Bureau, by regulation, may prohibit or impose conditions or limitations on the use of an agreement between a covered person and a consumer for a consumer financial product or service providing for arbitration of any future dispute between the parties, if the Bureau finds that such a prohibition or imposition of conditions or limitations is in the public interest and for the protection of consumers. The findings in such rule shall be consistent with the study conducted under subsection (a).
- (c) LIMITATION.—The authority described in subsection (b) may not be construed to prohibit or restrict a consumer from entering into a voluntary arbitration agreement with a covered person after a dispute has arisen.
- (d) EFFECTIVE DATE.—Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any regulation prescribed by the Bureau under subsection (b) shall apply, consistent with the terms of the regulation, to any agreement between a consumer and a covered person entered into after the end of the 180-day period beginning on the effective date of the regulation, as established by the Bureau.

Appendix B: Glossary

Arbitration means a form of alternative dispute resolution in which a privately-appointed individual — an arbitrator — is empowered to resolve disputes that arise between the parties, including both contractual disputes and disputes under state or federal law.

Class Arbitration means a class case that proceeds in arbitration. Like other forms of arbitration, a privately-appointed individual — an arbitrator — is empowered to resolve the dispute. The arbitrator (or arbitrators) will typically first decide whether a class can be certified and then will decide the merits of the underlying dispute.

Class Proceeding or Class Case means a lawsuit that allows a large number of people with a common interest in a matter to sue or be sued as a group. In federal courts, such actions are brought in accordance with Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which requires the party seeking class certification to demonstrate that (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable; (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class; (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class; and (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. Similar rules exist in the states that permit class cases.

Dodd-Frank Act means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203 (July 21, 2010), section 1028 of which provide the Bureau with the authority to promulgate rules related to the proposals under consideration.

Pre-Dispute Arbitration Agreement means an agreement or part of an agreement that requires future disputes between the parties to the agreement to be resolved by an arbitrator. (Often referred to as an **Arbitration Agreement** in this document.)

Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996 or SBREFA, Pub. L. No. 104-121 (Mar. 29, 1996), refers to the statute that establishes the Small Business Review Panel process for certain Bureau, Environmental Protection Agency, and Occupational Health and Safety Administration rulemakings.

Small Business Review Panel or **Panel** means a panel formed of representatives from the Bureau, the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration, and the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs in the Office of Management and Budget. A Panel is convened in accordance with SBREFA when a rule under development may have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. The Panel for the Bureau's rulemaking on arbitration agreements will prepare a report of its recommendations after discussing with small entity representatives the Outline of Proposals Under Consideration and Alternatives Considered.

Small Entity means a small business, small organization, or a small government as defined by the Regulatory Flexibility Act. The size standards for classifying a business as small vary by industry and are established by the Small Business Administration.

Small Entity Representative or **SER** means a representative of a small entity who participates in the SBREFA process to provide input on costs and benefits of the proposals under consideration in a rulemaking.